RECEIVED 01-06-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT TIMESCONSIN

Case No. 2019AP2024 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DOUGLAS J. RICHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a judgment and an order entered in the Eau Claire County Circuit Court, the Honorable Shaughnessy P. Murphy and Sarah Mae Harless, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Douglas Richer entered a plea pursuant to a plea bargain, and the circuit court accepted it. Did the circuit court violate Richer's right not to be subjected to double jeopardy when it later vacated the plea during Richer's sentencing colloquy?

The circuit court held that it did not. Because this conclusion is contrary to *State v. Comstock*, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 485 N.W.2d 354 (1992), and related authority, this Court should reverse.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Richer does not request oral argument, though he would welcome it if the Court were to deem it helpful. Publication is not warranted as the controlling law is clear.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this Eau Claire County case, the state charged Douglas Richer with one count of possessing more than 50 grams of methamphetamine with intent to deliver (a Class C felony) and one count of maintaining a drug house (a Class I felony). Each was charged with both the second-and-subsequent and felony repeaters. (6). Richer's wife was also charged with the same counts in Eau Claire County Case No. 2016CF878, minus the repeater enhancers.

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 6 of 29

In a related case in Dunn County, Richer was charged with possessing between three and 10 grams of methamphetamine, a Class E felony, with second and subsequent and felony repeaters. *See* Dunn Co. Case No. 2016CF230.

In the Dunn County case, Richer's first counsel, Francis Rivard, withdrew. (52:2). Successor counsel, Christopher Bub, eventually filed a suppression motion that was heard and denied. He also filed a motion to compel discovery, which asserted that the prosecutor had told him he was intentionally delaying turning items over. (53). Both motions bore on the legality of the traffic stop that led to Richer's arrest and the discovery that he had methamphetamine; these facts, in turn, formed the basis for the search warrant leading to the charges in this case. (53; 1:2-3).

Eventually, Richer and the state reached an agreement by which he would plead to Count One in this case. The remaining charges—both in this case and in the Dunn County case—were to be dismissed and read in. The parties agreed to jointly recommend six years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision, consecutive to a revocation sentence Richer was serving. The charges against his wife were also to be dismissed with prejudice. (61:2-3; App. 102-03). The parties agreed not to request a presentence investigation and to ask the court to proceed immediately to sentencing. (61:3; App. 103).

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 7 of 29

The court conducted a colloquy with Richer. It informed him of the maximum penalties and that it was not bound by the parties' sentencing recommendation, and inquired as to his education, mental state and comprehension. (61:4-6; App. 104-06).

When the court began to inquire about the elements of the offense, Richer expressed some concern about the idea that the large amount of methamphetamine found in his home could lead to the conclusion that he intended to sell it. He discussed it with his counsel and confirmed that he understood the elements. (61:6-8; App. 106-08). The prosecutor and the court later also clarified to Richer that there was no legal presumption that the weight proved intent to deliver, but that the weight could be evidence of such intent. (61:16-17; App. 116-17). The court then recited the elements and reconfirmed that he understood them, and that the state would have to prove them beyond a reasonable doubt at a trial. (61:8-9,11; App. 108-09, 111). Richer also admitted the prior offenses underlying the repeater enhancers. (61:15; App. 115).

The court confirmed with Richer that other than the inducements in the plea agreement, no one had threatened or promised him anything in connection with the plea. It discussed the immigration, firearms, and civil rights consequences of conviction. (61:10; App. 110). It also went over each constitutional right Richer was giving up, and Richer

confirmed that he understood. (61:12-14; App. 112-14).

Richer pleaded no contest. (61:16,17; App. 116-17). The court accepted the plea:

> The court will accept your no contest plea and find you guilty, and I'll find that your plea is freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made with a full understanding of the nature of the charges, the maximum penalties, and the rights you're giving up here today by entering into this plea, and the court will again accept your plea and find that there's a factual basis for the plea.

(61:17; App. 117).

The court then moved on to sentencing. (61:17: App. 117). The state gave its recommendation, emphasizing that it was a joint recommendation and explaining why it was appropriate. (61:18-21: App. 118-21). At the end of his comments, the prosecutor said that he did "not want Richer to enter his plea if he's not comfortable with this agreement." (61:21; App. 121). The court then invited Richer's counsel to make his sentencing argument, which he did. (61:21-24; App. 121-24).

The court next invited Richer to give allocution. (61:24; App. 124). Richer began by saying "I don't want to say anything that's going to – that's going to jeopardize the court trying to withdraw – not accept my plea. I want to make that real clear." (61:24; App. 124). He went on to fault his wife's lawyer for failing to file a discovery motion in her case, and noted that the state's agreement not to prosecute her

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 9 of 29

was a major factor in his decision to plead. (61:24-25; App. 124-25). He asserted that the drugs found in his residence had been placed there by dealers who had lived there for a time and had since been charged with possessing large quantities of methamphetamine, though he did not deny knowing the drugs were there. (61:25; App. 125). He complained about his first lawyer in the case failing to meet with him, and said (accurately) that his second attorney had submitted a motion in Dunn County alleging the prosecutor had admitted not turning over evidence. (61:25-26; App. 125-26).

At this point the court broke in, saying it wanted to "ask Richer a couple of questions." (61:26; App. 126). It went over the elements of the offense with him again, and Richer confirmed that he understood them, and that he believed the state could prove each of them beyond a reasonable doubt. (61:27-28; App. 127-28). Richer then continued his statement, asserting that he had wanted to further litigate the Dunn County discovery issue, but had been told that the plea offer would be withdrawn if he did so. (61:29; App. 129).

The prosecutor then spoke, and the hearing came to the following end:

MR. RINDAL: Judge, at this point, I don't believe that we can have this plea go through today. He's alleging *Brady* violations --

THE DEFENDANT: No.

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 10 of 29

MR. RINDAL: – ineffective assistance of counsel, he's alleging that the DA's office is suppressing evidence. Those are major, major allegations and certainly deserve to be heard in court in an appropriate and highly factually supported way.

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor -

MR. BETTHAUSER: Let me talk. Judge, if I may. Mr. Richer started off his statement saying that he knew that he was going to be saying some things that were – perhaps would lead the court to believe that he didn't want to, but he absolutely wants the court to accept this plea today. Your Honor, as he stated, he gave up these motions that were filed in Dunn County in order to take this deal. He did that so he could protect his wife. The court now – and, certainly, the court has a lot of discretion, especially when we get to this point - but has accepted Mr. Richer's plea and we're at sentencing, and he is simply and perhaps going a little bit too far, especially given the court's hesitance at this second, but trying to explain the reasons why he took the plea. I don't believe that he's treading in the area that, even if these issues existed, it often happens in criminal cases defendants choose not to pursue certain arguments and take a deal instead. That is exactly what has happened here. He has stated that he - on the record that he has not been threatened or coerced or done anything into accepting this offer and to recommending it to the court and to making this plea. If Mr. Richer would like to continue his statements, then certainly he has that right of allocution. But despite the State's comments and – and I know that the court has some hesitance here, I would like the court to continue on this sentencing hearing.

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor --

MR. BETTHAUSER: Let him talk first.

THE COURT: While we engaged in the colloquy, I wasn't confident initially that Mr. Richer wanted to take this plea. We went over each element thoroughly, we went constitutional right thoroughly, each response to the question was either cute or tried to be nuanced, and that's why I went over it multiple times and until the point where I was satisfied. Mr. Richer, in his right of allocution, is making it abundantly clear to me that he doesn't think that - he doesn't think that the facts of this case that have been stipulated to support his plea.

THE DEFENDANT: No, that's not true, sir. And that's not my intention.

MR. BETTHAUSER: Let him talk.

THE COURT: And I - I am very concerned. I've tried to rehabilitate you in this portion by going through the elements again -

THE DEFENDANT: I understand that.

THE COURT: — and I thought that was a good enough warning, but you actually took it further; and so at this point, I'm not willing and ready or able to move to sentencing and I will not accept the plea. I will withdraw your plea on your behalf and ask that this matter be set for the appropriate hearing at the appropriate time, but right now is not the time to have that debate. Mr. Rindal is correct. These are grave, grave, grave allegations that have been leveled on the court. And, Richer, you have the right to have those heard, and the — and the time to have those heard isn't just, as you alluded to, on appeal. You didn't say the words appeal, but you alluded to it. And you have the right to appeal, but you don't

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 12 of 29

have that right until a sentence is given, and I don't — I don't think it's appropriate to enter into this phase knowing that there's going to be the appeal phase, whether or not that phase is going to come no matter what. The purpose of — at a sentencing hearing of this gravity is to make sure that you are clear-minded and entering into what you know you're entering into, and I am not convinced that you are, so I will ask that Mr. Rindal and Mr. Betthauser schedule time, probably a couple of hours, a couple of different days, probably, for these hearings, and this matter is adjourned.

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, can I make a comment?

THE COURT: No.

(61:29-32; App. 129-32).

Richer's counsel did later file a motion to suppress related to the Dunn County traffic stop, but that was withdrawn when Richer and the state reached a second plea agreement. (67:7-9). The terms of this one were substantially less favorable to Richer. Principally, the state was no longer willing to agree to a joint recommendation of six years of confinement and 10 of supervision (it would ultimately recommend 15 years of confinement and 15 years of supervision). (67:8; 69:6). Also, though the state still agreed to dismiss charges against Richer's wife, this dismissal was now without prejudice. (69:9).

Before Richer entered his new plea, though, his counsel filed a motion asking the court to reconsider

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 13 of 29

its decision to vacate the old one. It noted that the court had accepted Richer's plea, and had interrupted his sentencing allocution; it alleged that had that allocution been completed, it would have been clear that Richer's plea was voluntary. It went on to assert that "Richer has had his disagreements with certain things on this case, but he was 100% in agreement with voluntarily waiving his constitutional rights and entering his plea, which was the result of a negotiated agreement." (25). The motion therefore requested that the court reinstate the plea and the plea bargain that had already been entered. (25:1)

Richer's counsel asked the court to take up the motion at the beginning of what would become the second plea hearing. (67:3; App. 136). The state opposed the motion. (67:4; App. 137). Richer's counsel noted that the court had accepted the plea at the original hearing and noted that Richer had expressly stated that he wanted the court to accept it. (67:6; App. 139). The court reiterated its concerns from the previous hearing—that "I was getting the feeling that [Richer] didn't believe in the words he was saying" and denied the motion to reconsider. (67:6-7; App. 139-40). The court then took Richer's plea under the new bargain. (67:10-21). At the subsequent sentencing hearing, the court imposed a 30-year sentence, consisting of 15 years of confinement and 15 years of supervision. (69:47-48).

Richer filed a postconviction motion, which again sought reinstatement of, and sentencing upon, the original plea agreement. (52). The motion

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 14 of 29

asserted that the circuit court's decision to vacate Richer's plea over Richer's objection violated his right not to be subjected to double jeopardy. It further submitted that Richer's second plea did not waive this claim, and that if it *did* waive the claim, his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to assert it. (52:1-2). After additional briefing, the court held an evidentiary hearing. (54; 55; 72; App. 141-158).

At the hearing, Richer's trial counsel testified about the motion he'd filed to reinstate the original plea. He said that he'd argued that Richer's plea was, despite the court's impression at the sentencing hearing, voluntary. (72:7-8; App. 147-48). Asked whether he had raised a double-jeopardy claim or cited *State v. Comstock*, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 485 N.W.2d 354 (1992), counsel responded that he "did not do sufficient research" to learn that it was relevant and that he was not aware of the case at the time. (72:7-8; App. 147-48).

The court denied the motion at the end of the hearing. The judge noted that she was not the same judge who had taken the plea. (72:15; App. 155). She alluded to the difficulties in taking that plea reflected in the transcript, and continued:

When I looked to what the court specifically said on page 31, looking at the court's language, very clearly the judge says, I wasn't confident initially that Mr. Richer wanted to take this plea, and goes on to lay out some of his feelings about that. And then says, Mr. Richer, in his right of allocution, is making it abundantly clear to me that he doesn't think -- he doesn't

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 15 of 29

think that the facts of this case that have been stipulated to support his plea. And that's fairly important, because what we know from Johnson v. State, though it is a pre-plea case, is that a judge must reject a plea if a defendant denies one of the elements of the crime. And what all judges know is that it's important as you're going through the plea colloquy that you make sure that the defendant's entering the plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. In this case, it's pretty clear, looking at the statements and reviewing the transcript, that the judge did not feel that that's what happened in this case, that if these statements that Mr. Richer made, if he had made those before the judge accepted the plea, then he wouldn't have accepted it. But what was said went right to the heart of the case. And I think it's also fairly clear that Mr. Richer knew that would be the case because he chose to begin his right of allocution by saying, I don't want to say anything that's going to make you reject the plea, which shows some knowledge of just how serious these statements were, and he chose not to present that initially as going through -- when going through the plea colloquy with the judge but later after it was accepted, and it looks like the court did what the court believed was the only right thing to do in this case, which was to withdraw the plea. So I find under the facts of this case that the court found that the defendant withheld material information which would have induced the court not to accept the plea, so for that reason, the motion is denied.

(72:15-17; App. 155-57). The court later entered a written order, and Richer appealed. (57; 58).

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 16 of 29

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court violated Richer's right to be free from double jeopardy when it sua sponte vacated his already-accepted plea
 - A. Jeopardy attaches when a court accepts a guilty plea, such that a court generally may not vacate an accepted plea.

Both the state and federal Constitutions guarantee the right not to be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V; Wis. Const. art. I § 8. Among the protections encompassed by this right is protection "against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction." *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969).

In State v. Comstock, our supreme court held that a "conviction" for these purposes occurs when a court accepts a guilty plea. 168 Wis. 2d at 938-39; see also Hawkins v. State, 30 Wis. 2d 264, 267, 140 N.W.2d 226 (1966) ("The general rule, adhered to by this court, is that jeopardy attaches the moment a plea of guilty is accepted by the court."); State v. Petty, 201 Wis. 2d 337, 362, 548 N.W.2d 817 (1996) ("Where there is no trial, jeopardy attaches upon the court's acceptance of a guilty or no contest plea."). The Comstock court noted that before accepting a plea, a circuit court may "ask sufficient questions ... to satisfy itself of the wisdom of accepting the plea." 168 Wis. 2d at 946. (It's well settled that a circuit

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 17 of 29

court has the discretion to reject a proposed plea bargain. See State v. Roubik, 137 Wis. 2d 301, 305, 404 N.W.2d 105 (Ct. App. 1987)). But, once a court has accepted a plea, it generally lacks the power to undo that acceptance, both as a matter of double jeopardy rights and by exercise of the supreme court's superintending authority over the lower courts. Comstock, 168 Wis. 2d at 946-47, 953. The timing of such a vacatur is "legally irrelevant"—it is unlawful whether it takes place "minutes, hours, or days" after the acceptance of a plea. State v. Terrill, 2001 WI App 70, ¶24, 242 Wis. 2d 415, 625 N.W.2d 353. The remedy for a trial court's improper vacatur of a plea is the reinstatement of the original pleas and dismissals, and a sentencing on the original bargain. Comstock, 168 Wis. 2d at 947, 953.

Here, the circuit court clearly accepted Richer's plea, saying

The court will accept your no contest plea and find you guilty, and I'll find that your plea is freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made with a full understanding of the nature of the charges, the maximum penalties, and the rights you're giving up here today by entering into this plea, and the court will again accept your plea and find that there's a factual basis for the plea.

(61:17; App. 117). Under *Comstock* and related cases, jeopardy attached, and the circuit court violated Richer's constitutional right when it later vacated the plea.

Case 2019AP002024 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-06-2020 Page 18 of 29

B. The *Comstock* exception for fraud or intentional withholding of material information does not apply here.

At the postconviction hearing, the circuit court acknowledged the rule of *Comstock* but concluded that this case falls within an exception noted in that case: a court may *sua sponte* vacate a plea if it "finds that there was fraud in procuring the plea or that a party intentionally withheld from the circuit court material information which would have induced the circuit court not to accept the plea." *Id.* at 953.

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