Filed 02-24-2020

Page 1 of 28

RECEIVED 02-24-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

# DISTRICT III

#### Case No. 2019AP2024-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DOUGLAS J. RICHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SHAUGHNESSY P. MURPHY AND SARAH MAE HARLESS, PRESIDING

# PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIMOTHY M. BARBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1036507

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE		
	N ORAL ARGUMENT FION1	
INTRODUCTIO	N1	
STATEMENT OF THE CASE2		
STANDARD OF REVIEW		
ARGUMENT		
Riche	circuit court did not violate er's right to be free from double rdy	
А.	The Double Jeopardy Clause protects against successive prosecutions for the same offense	
B.	Richer's case falls squarely within the <i>Comstock</i> exception because the court learned of information that called into question the validity of the plea	
C.	<i>Comstock</i> does not apply because Richer was not subject to multiple jeopardies	
	1. Jeopardy does not attach in any meaningful sense when a court accepts and then vacates a no- contest plea in the same hearing	

2. Assuming jeopardy did	2.
attach when the court	
accepted Richer's plea, it	
continued until the	
judgment of conviction	
following his second plea	
hearing	
CONCLUSION	CONCLUSION

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Page(s)

# Cases

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)
Gilmore v. Zimmerman, 793 F.2d 564 (3d Cir. 1986)11
North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969)
Salters v. State, 52 Wis. 2d 710, 191 N.W.2d 691 (1971) 19, 20, 21
State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) 12
State v. Clark, 2000 WI App 245, 239 Wis. 2d 417, 620 N.W.2d 435 20
State v. Comstock, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 485 N.W.2d 354 (1992)1, passim
State v. Hill, 2000 WI App 259, 240 Wis. 2d 1, 622 N.W.2d 34
State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886
State v. Roubik, 137 Wis. 2d 301, 404 N.W.2d 105 (Ct. App. 1987) 15

State v. Rushing, 2007 WI App 227, 305 Wis. 2d 739, 740 N.W.2d 894 16
State v. Searcy, 2006 WI App 8, 288 Wis. 2d 804, 709 N.W.2d 497 15
State v. Trawitzki, 2001 WI 77, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801
State v. Waldman, 57 Wis. 2d 234, 203 N.W.2d 691 (1973) 15
State v. Williams, 2000 WI 78, 236 Wis. 2d 293, 613 N.W.2d 132 22
United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688 (1993)
United States v. Santiago Soto, 825 F.2d 616 (1st Cir. 1987) 11, 18
<b>Constitutional Provisions</b>
U.S. Const. amend. V
Wis. Const. art. I, § 8(1)
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 971.08 12

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The circuit court accepted and then *sua sponte* vacated Douglas J. Richer's no-contest plea to possession/intent to deliver more than 50 grams of heroin at the same hearing. The court did so based on statements Richer made during allocution that called into question the factual basis of his plea and whether it was knowing and voluntary. No charges were dismissed before the court vacated the plea. Richer subsequently entered the same plea to the same offense under a virtually identical plea bargain—the only difference being the agreement converted from a joint recommendation to allow the parties to argue at sentencing. No new or amended charges were filed in the interim. Richer then moved for postconviction relief, seeking reinstatement of his original plea and the original agreement, which was denied.

Did the circuit court violate Richer's constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy?

The postconviction court concluded no constitutional violation occurred because Richer withheld material information during the plea colloquy that would have caused the circuit court to reject the plea at the first plea hearing.

This Court should affirm.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication are warranted, as this appeal involves application of well-settled rules of law and the issues can be addressed fully in the parties' briefs.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Richer's constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy was not violated for three independent reasons. First, under the rule of judicial administration announced in *State v. Comstock*, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 485 N.W.2d 354 (1992), a circuit court is permitted to *sua sponte* vacate an accepted guilty plea if the defendant withholds material information that would have caused it to reject the plea. Both the circuit court and postconviction court correctly found that Richer's comments during his allocution satisfied this standard, as they called into question the factual basis of Richer's plea and whether it was knowing and voluntary.

Second, jeopardy did not attach at the first plea hearing because the court accepted and then vacated the plea within minutes and no new charges were filed. Third, even if jeopardy did attach at the first hearing, the same jeopardy continued until the court accepted Richer's second plea and dismissed the remaining charges. Under either of these theories, *Comstock* simply does not apply because Richer was not subject to multiple prosecutions or different charges for the same offense, and therefore was not subject to multiple jeopardies.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Charges against Richer

On July 11, 2016, police officers arrested Richer in Dunn County in connection with an undercover drug purchase. (R. 3:3–4.) Officers then obtained a search warrant for Richer's residence in Eau Claire County. (R. 1.) During a search of his home, police found over 600 grams of methamphetamine, as well as drug trafficking paraphernalia. (R. 3:5.) This was "one of the largest meth discoveries in recent history in Eau Claire County." (R. 61:20.) Richer's wife, Renee Peterson, was taken into custody following the search. (R. 3:5.)

In Eau Claire County Case No. 2016CF0879, the State charged Richer with (1) possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine and (2) maintaining a drug trafficking place—both as a party to a crime, as a repeat offender, and as a second or subsequent offense. (R. 3:1–2.) Peterson was charged with similar felonies, absent the enhancers. (R. 3:3.) The State later moved to sever the charges and filed an information charging Richer with the same offenses in the complaint. (R. 6; 20.) Richer was also charged with possession with intent to deliver between 3–10 grams of methamphetamine in a separate case, Dunn County Case No. 2016CF0230, which is not the subject of this appeal.<sup>1</sup>

#### First plea hearing

During a status conference on October 13, 2017, the State indicated that the parties had reached a plea agreement. (R. 61:1.) Richer would plead to count one in the information (possession with intent to deliver), and the remaining count would be dismissed and read in; the charges in Dunn County would be dismissed; the State would dismiss the charges against Peterson; and the parties would submit a joint recommendation for a 16-year bifurcated sentence of 6 years' initial confinement and 10 years' extended supervision. (R. 61:2–3.)

During the subsequent plea colloquy, Richer consulted with his counsel multiple times and gave nuanced and qualified answers to the court's questions. When the court asked Richer if he understood the elements of the offense, Richer equivocated and said, "I mean, there isn't any sale thing here that this involved, this is something that it was found on our property in which we owned." (R. 61:6.) Richer said he was willing to enter a plea because he was told that "if I'm in possession of it, that it automatically is the law assumes it is intent to sell because of -- because of the amount, that I don't have an argument to dispute that." (R. 61:7.) When his attorney asked Richer to verify that he was willing to enter a plea, he stated, "I'm willing to enter the plea, but I'm just saying -- I'm told that this is a matter of -- we've

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See https://wcca.wicourts.gov.

discussed this." (R. 61:7.) He then spoke with his attorney offthe-record. (R. 61:8.) The court then explained in detail the enumerated elements of the offense to which Richer would be pleading. (R. 61:8–9.)

When the court asked Richer if "anyone made any threats or promises to get you to enter into this plea today," Richer again needed to consult with his counsel. (R. 61:9–10.) He then responded: "Nothing other than the elements and the plea agreement." (R. 61:10.)

After confirming that Richer understood he would be waiving his constitutional rights (R. 61:12–13), the court asked Richer if he agreed that there was a factual basis for the charge to which he was pleading; Richer responded: "The information that the State alleges? . . . As -- as written, yes." (R. 61:15.) The circuit court, concerned with this response, informed Richer that he need not agree with every fact alleged, but needed to agree that the facts would support a guilty or no contest plea. (R. 61:15.) Following this exchange, Richer had two off-the-record conversations with his attorney about the "drugs at [his] residence." (R. 61:15–16.)

Following a clarification from the prosecutor as to the elements of the offense, Richer pleaded no contest to count one in the information. (R. 61:17.) The court accepted the plea and adjudged Richer guilty. (R. 61:17.) After the parties explained the joint sentencing recommendation (R. 61:18–23), the court gave Richer the opportunity to allocute (R. 61:24).

Richer began by stating that "[t]he first thing I'm going to say is I don't want to say anything that's going to -- that's going to jeopardize the court trying to withdraw -- not accept my plea. I want to make that real clear." (R. 61:24.) He then stated that the "key element" to his plea was his belief that his wife's attorney was not effective and that he "felt it was [his] responsibility to protect her." (R. 61:24–25.) Richer then explained that the drugs that were found in his residence belonged to two other individuals who were living in his residence while he was in jail in a drug treatment program. (R. 61:25.) He stated that his first attorney was ineffective and pressured him to accept a plea agreement or threatened to withdraw. (R. 61:26.) Richer then claimed that his prior counsel had information that the district attorney was withholding exculpatory evidence and that he was pressured to not pursue a  $Brady^2$  motion. (R. 61:26, 29.)

Richer again had two off-the-record conversations with his attorney, after which the court attempted to reaffirm that Richer was aware of the elements of the offense. (R. 61:27.) Richer responded: "That I understand that that's what I was charged? I don't understand." (R. 61:28.) The court attempted to clarify that Richer understood that he was agreeing that the State could prove the elements of the offense. (R. 61:28.)

Following another off-the-record conversation with his attorney, Richer explained that he was told that if he pursued the *Brady* motion, the State would withdraw its plea offer. (R. 61:28–29.) He again asserted that his first attorney was ineffective and made no attempt to obtain the exculpatory evidence he claimed the State was withholding. (R. 61:29.) Richer continued: "I didn't want [the prosecutor] to withdraw the plea offer because of the fact is, again, I -- I was -- I was willing to take responsibility of this, I was put in a position where it was either -- I don't know how to say this." (R. 61:29.) He stated that the *Brady* issue "is going to be dealt with later on, of course." (R. 61:29.)

The prosecutor then objected that Richer's statements meant that his plea could not be accepted. (R. 61:29.) Richer's counsel attempted to reaffirm his willingness to accept the plea agreement. (R. 61:30–31.) However, the court said that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

Richer's statements during allocution indicated that he did not really accept the plea:

While we engaged in the colloquy, I wasn't confident initially that Mr. Richer wanted to take this plea. We went over each element thoroughly, we went over each constitutional right thoroughly, and each response to the question was either cute or tried to be nuanced, and that's why I went over it multiple times and until the point where I was satisfied. Mr. Richer, in his right of allocution, is making it abundantly clear to me that he doesn't think that -- he doesn't think that the facts of this case that have been stipulated to support his plea.

#### (R. 61:31.)

The court then said it was "very concerned," that it believed Richer's comments had undermined the court's attempt to confirm the validity of his plea and that it was "not convinced" Richer understood the offense he was pleading to. (R. 61:31–32.) The court then decreed: "I will withdraw your plea on your behalf." (R. 61:31–32.)

Importantly, at no point during the initial plea hearing did the State move to withdraw or dismiss the charges in count two of the information or the charges against Richer's wife. No charges were dismissed. The court did not impose sentence, and no judgment of conviction was entered.

#### Second plea hearing

Richer moved to suppress the evidence obtained during the traffic stop that led to his arrest as well as the evidence seized from his residence. (R. 18.) Richer also moved the court to reconsider its decision withdrawing his plea, arguing that had he been allowed to finish his statements, it would have been clear that he was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entering into the plea; he claimed that it was a manifest injustice to withdraw it. (R. 25.) At a subsequent hearing, Richer's counsel informed the court that he was willing to enter into another plea agreement but wanted the court to rule on his motion for reconsideration first. (R. 67:3–4.) The court denied the motion and explained that it withdrew the previous plea because "[m]y primary concern was numerous times, maybe even three times, I went to great length to rehabilitate Mr. Richer during that plea because I was getting the feeling that he didn't believe in the words he was saying." (R. 67:7.)

The prosecutor then explained that the terms of the new plea agreement were almost identical to the previous one, absent the joint sentence recommendation. Specifically, Richer would plead to count one; count two would be dismissed and read in; the charges in Dunn County would be dismissed; the charges against Peterson would be dismissed; and the parties would jointly recommend a PSI, but be free to argue at sentencing. (R. 67:8–9.)

The court then conducted another plea colloquy during which Richer pleaded no contest to count one. (R. 67:9–20.) The court accepted the plea and dismissed count two of the information, as well as the charges against Peterson, and ordered a PSI. (R. 67:21.) A judgment of dismissal as to count two was entered the same day. (R. 26.) The court later sentenced Richer to 15 years' initial confinement and 15 years' extended supervision and entered a judgment of conviction to that effect. (R. 35:1–2.)

# Postconviction proceedings

Richer moved for postconviction relief, claiming that the court's withdrawal of his initial plea violated his constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy under *Comstock*. (R. 52:1.) He also asserted that his second plea did not waive the alleged double jeopardy violation because his trial counsel was ineffective for not invoking *Comstock* and because his double-jeopardy claim could be adjudicated on the

existing record.<sup>3</sup> Richer requested reinstatement of the original plea bargain and a new sentencing. (R. 52:2.)

Following an evidentiary hearing, the postconviction court denied the motion. Although noting that *Comstock* was somewhat distinguishable, the court said that it did not need to "get into -- to that part [of] whether Comstock applies." (R. 72:15.) The postconviction court explained that "it's pretty clear it says that the judge or the court may not vacate the plea unless there's fraud in procuring the agreement or a party intentionally withheld from the circuit court material information which would have induced the circuit court not to accept the plea." (R. 72:15.) The postconviction court said that after reviewing the transcript from the initial plea hearing, "its pretty clear" that the circuit court was not "sure that the defendant[] [was] entering the plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently," and that "if these statements that Mr. Richer made, if he had made those before the judge accepted the plea, then he wouldn't have accepted it." (R. 72:16.) Accordingly, the postconviction court concluded that "the defendant withheld material information which would have induced the court not to accept the plea, so for that reason, the motion is denied." (R. 72:17.)

Richer appeals. (R. 58.)

# **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issue of whether a person's right to be free from double jeopardy has been violated presents a question of law that is reviewed de novo on appeal. *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶ 19, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801. However, factual findings made by the circuit court that are pertinent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As the State is not arguing waiver in this case, it does not further address the second portion of Richer's postconviction motion.

to the analysis are upheld unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Hill*, 2000 WI App 259, ¶ 12, 240 Wis. 2d 1, 622 N.W.2d 34.

# ARGUMENT

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